FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 7/23/2018 2:56 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/27/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96130-1 Court of Appeals No. 76948-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

STEPHEN THOMAS LYNCH, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et.al., Defendants/Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
The Honorable Monica Benton, Trial Judge

DI AINTHEE/ADDELL ANT'S DETITION EOD DEVIEW

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. Lynch urges the Court to grant review on one or more of the following issues:

- (1) CR 12(b)(6) standard of review. On a defense motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6), should the complaint be narrowly construed against the civil rights plaintiff, as the appellate panel did here, or should the complaint proceed if "any hypothetical situation conceivably raised by the complaint" supports it, as this Court has held in *Halvorson v. Dodd*, 89 Wash. 2d 673, 674, 574 P. 2d 1190 (1978), and other cases?
- (2) Statute of limitations--§1983 claims. Mr. Lynch challenges his conviction, sentence and the resulting

unreasonable seizures. Did the statute of limitations for his \$1983 federal claims begin to run on the date when his underlying criminal case was dismissed, or on some other date?

(3) Statute of limitations—state law claims. Did the statute of limitations on Mr. Lynch's state law claims begin to run on the date when his underlying criminal case was dismissed, or on some other date?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a civil action by Mr. Lynch seeking damages against the state of Washington and several of its employees (hereinafter "state defendants").² The civil claims include common law tort causes of action and constitutional claims brought pursuant to Title 42, United States Code, §1983. CP 2. The state defendants claim that the statute of limitations has run. They are incorrect. Mr. Lynch's causes of action

The purpose of the complaint was to seek §1983 liability against the individual defendants, and liability against the State on the state law claims under *respondeat superior*, RCW 4.22.070(1)(a) and RCW 4.22.070(1)(b). *See Complaint*, ¶¶ 79, 85, 92, 94 and 95. This issue was discussed with the panel during oral argument.

The panel chose to raise and discuss the lack of State §1983 liability *sua sponte* in Part II.A of its slip decision, Appendix II pages A-5, A-6.

challenge the validity of his conviction and sentence. His claims did not accrue until the underlying criminal case was dismissed on or about February 8, 2016. The statute of limitations began to run on that date. *See Heck v. Humphrey*, 512 U.S. 477, 489-90, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383, 114 S. Ct. 2364 (1994); *see Manuel v. City of Joliet*, 137 S. Ct. 911, 919-921, 197 L. Ed. 2d 312, 2017 U.S. LEXIS 2021 (2017); *see Brown v. Department of Corrections*, 198 Wash. App. 1, 12-14, 2016 Wash.App. LEXIS 3081 (Division One, 2016). Mr. Lynch filed his lawsuit just seven months later, on November 8, 2016, well within the statute of limitations.

The trial court granted the State's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss on statute of limitations grounds. CP 137-138. Our appeal of this ruling was timely filed. CP 139-142.

Our complaint alleges that in September, 2006, Stephen Lynch entered a plea of guilty to a charge of "felony harassment". Mr. Lynch's plea was presented pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*.³ He advised the King County Superior Court, on the record, that he did not believe that he was guilty of a crime in the matter. *Complaint*, ¶ 10, CP 3.

Mr. Lynch owns a series of parcels of land along the

³ 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970).

Cedar River. He makes his home there. The incident arose from a verbal dispute with a neighbor, Connie Laire, who brought contractors onto the property. Ms. Laire was the complaining witness. *Complaint*, ¶ 11, CP 3. Mr. Lynch has maintained his innocence throughout this proceeding.

On February 8, 2016, the guilty plea was withdrawn. The conviction was vacated. A plea of not guilty was entered. The case was dismissed with prejudice. Mr. Lynch was released from all penalties and disabilities resulting from the offense. The Court directed that for all purposes, Mr. Lynch may state that he has never been convicted of the crime. *Complaint*, ¶ 51, CP 13.

Simply stated, the Complaint alleges that Mr. Lynch was prosecuted and convicted although he is innocent. The prosecution, conviction and detention (*see* ¶¶ 13-44) constituted an unreasonable seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment. *Complaint*, ¶¶ 60-65, CP 14-15. Malicious prosecution is a remedy for unjustified criminal prosecutions. Mr. Lynch's malicious prosecution claim is included within his Fourth Amendment unreasonable seizure and unlawful arrest/unlawful imprisonment causes of action. *Manuel v. City of Joliet, supra*, 137 S. Ct. at 919-921.

The complaint for damages, alleging federal and state law claims, was filed on November 8, 2016, just seven months after the dismissal. CP 1. This filing was well within the statute of limitations.

The complaint further alleges that while the underlying case was pending, the defendants falsely arrested and imprisoned Mr. Lynch in three different institutions without a warrant or other authority of law. *See Complaint*, ¶¶ 16-44, CP 4-7; ¶¶ 54-55, CP 13. In addition to unreasonable seizure, these facts constitute an arrest without probable cause in violation of the Fourth Amendment. *Complaint*, ¶¶ 66-71.

Defendants knew that Mr. Lynch suffered from serious health problems. *Complaint*, ¶ 31, 33, 34, 36, and 43; CP 7-11. The health problems arose in connection with Mr. Lynch's service in the United States Army in Germany. *Complaint* ¶ 31 (a), CP 8. He was being treated with medications prescribed by the United States Veteran's Administration. *Complaint*, ¶ 31(c), CP 8. During the unreasonable seizure and arrest, DOC employees took Mr. Lynch into custody without any planning for his medical care. *Ibid*. Medications provided to the DOC were not given to Mr. Lynch. *Complaint*, ¶ 31(c), (d) and 36, CP 8-9. Apparently, they were thrown away. *Complaint*, ¶ 31(c), CP 8. Mr. Lynch lost 12 pounds during the first week of his imprisonment at the Regional Justice Center in Kent. *Complaint*, ¶ 36(a), CP 9. He suffered in DOC custody.

Complaint, ¶ 31(d), CP 8. DOC personnel were deliberately indifferent to his serious medical needs. *Complaint*, ¶ 31(c), CP 8.

In addition to unreasonable seizure and wrongful arrest and imprisonment in violation of the Fourth Amendment, these facts constitute a violation of Mr. Lynch's right to be protected from harm while in custody in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. *Complaint*, ¶ 72-76, CP 16. The facts also support Mr. Lynch's negligence claim. *Complaint*, ¶¶ 81-86, CP 17-18.

On or about October 29, 2007 Mr. Lynch was found not guilty of the alleged "contact" violation by the hearing officer. He was ordered "released to the streets". *Complaint*, ¶44, CP 11.

Mr. Lynch was sent out of the prison "to the streets" without his clothes, wallet, money, identification or keys. *Complaint*, ¶ 44(b), CP 11. He searched for his property for weeks after his release. *Complaint*, ¶ 45-50, CP 11-12. Based upon the above-described unreasonable seizures in violation of the Fourth Amendment, his property was wrongfully seized and converted, temporarily or permanently. *Complaint*, ¶ 56, ¶¶ 87-93; CP 13, 18-19.

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED.</u>

1. <u>Issue One: This Court's fair standard of review on CR 12(b)(6) motions should be enforced in civil rights cases.</u>

The state defendants ask for dismissal citing CR 12(b)(6). The only issue raised is the statute of limitations. *See* Defendants' CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, pp. 2, 5, CP48, 51.

This Court should grant review and hold that to prevail on a CR 12(b)(6) motion in a civil rights case, these defendants have the burden of establishing "beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." Corrigal v. Ball & Dodd Funeral Home, Inc., 89 Wn.2d 959, 961, 577 P.2d 580 (1978) (citing cases). This approach remedial of would fulfill the purposes §1983: compensation, deterrence, and protection of constitutional rights. See, e.g., Smith v. Wade, supra., 461 U.S. at 49-50.

The Court should hold that motion should be denied if the plaintiff can assert any hypothetical factual scenario that gives rise to a valid claim, even if the facts are alleged informally for the first time on appeal. *Bravo v. Dolsen* Cos., 125 Wn.2d 745, 750, 888 P.2d 147 (1995). See Halvorson v. Dahl, 89 Wn.2d 673, 674, 574 P.2d 1190 (1978); Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 420, 755 P.2d 781 (1988), aff'd on reh'g, 113 Wn.2d 148, 776 P.2d 963 (1989). Appellate review of a CR 12(b)(6) dismissal is de novo. Hoffer, 110 Wash.2d at 420.

As discussed below, the appellate panel appears to have construed the complaint against Mr. Lynch and in favor of the State, in derogation of this Court's cases. RAP 13.4(b)(1) The standard of review of civil rights complaints is an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The statute of limitations in civil rights cases is likewise an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. <u>Issue Two: The statute of limitations for the §1983 claims should begin to run on the date the underlying criminal charge was dismissed</u>

Section 1983 does not include its own statute of limitations. Federal courts apply the statute of limitations governing personal injury claims in the forum state, "along with the forum state's law regarding tolling, including equitable tolling, except to the extent any of these laws is inconsistent with federal law." *Butler v. Nat'l Cmty. Renaissance of Cal.*, 766 F.3d 1191, 1198 (9th Cir. 2014)

(citation omitted).

Although the statute of limitations applicable to § 1983 claims is borrowed from state law, federal law governs when a §1983 claim accrues. *TwoRivers v. Lewis*, 174 F.3d 987, 991 (9th Cir. 1999).

As discussed below, Mr. Lynch's §1983 claims accrued upon the dismissal of his criminal case on or about February 8, 2016.

The complaint alleges that under the incorporated allegations, Mr. Lynch was subjected to unreasonable seizures in violation of the Fourth *Complaint*, ¶¶ 10-71, CP 14-15. Amendment. seizures include the conviction, unreasonable the sentence, the arrest, Mr. Lynch's imprisonment, and the conditions of that imprisonment. *Complaint*, ¶¶ 60-76. In the §1983 federal claims, we challenge the validity of the conviction and sentence. The unlawful conviction and sentence formed the basis for the unlawful seizures and imprisonment of Mr. Lynch by the defendants attributable to the conviction and sentence, described in the complaint.

Mr. Lynch entered an *Alford* plea to the charge. Complaint, ¶ 10. He was subjected to the conviction, the

sentence and the resulting penalties and disabilities until the Court's order of vacation and dismissal was entered on February 8, 2016. *Complaint*, ¶51. Under *Heck v. Humphrey* and its progeny, Mr. Lynch's § 1983 claims were not cognizable until that date:

Under our analysis the statute limitations poses no difficulty while the state challenges are being pursued, since the § 1983 claim has not yet arisen. Just as a cause of action for malicious prosecution does not accrue until the criminal proceedings have terminated in the plaintiff's favor, [citations omitted], so also a § 1983 cause of action for damages attributable to an unconstitutional conviction or sentence does *not* accrue until the conviction or sentence has been invalidated.

Heck v Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477, 489-90, 114 S. Ct. 2364, 129 L.Ed.2d 383 (1994) (emphasis supplied). This passage suggests that the terms "favorable termination" and "invalidated" are synonyms.

The Fourth Amendment governs Mr. Lynch's claim that a form of legal process resulted in his detention, unsupported by probable cause. *Manuel v. City of Joliet, supra*. The Supreme Court's discussion in *Manuel* of the accrual date issue is helpful:

Here, the parties particularly disagree over the accrual date of Manuel's Fourth Amendment claim—that is, the date on which the applicable two-year statute of limitations began to run. The timeliness of Manuel's suit hinges on the choice between their proposed dates. But with the following brief comments, we remand that issue to the court below.

In defining the contours and prerequisites of a §1983 claim, including its rule of accrual, courts are to look first to the common law of torts. See ibid. (explaining that tort principles "provide the appropriate starting point" in specifying the conditions for recovery under §1983); Wallace v. Kato, 549 U. S. 384, 388-390, 127 S. Ct. 1091, 166 L. Ed. 2d 973 (2007) (same for accrual dates in particular). Sometimes, that review of common law will lead a court to adopt wholesale the rules that would apply in a suit involving the most analogous tort. See id., at 388-390, 127 S. Ct. 1091, 166 L. Ed. 2d 973; Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U. S. 477, 483-487, 114 S. Ct. 2364, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1994).

But not always. Common-law principles are meant to guide rather than to control the definition of §1983 claims, serving "more as a source of inspired examples than of prefabricated components." Hartman v. Moore, 547 U. S. 250, 258, 126 S. Ct. 1695,

164 L. Ed. 2d 441 (2006); see Rehberg v. Paulk, 566 U. S. 356, 366, 132 S. Ct. 1497, 182 L. Ed. 2d 593 (2012) (noting that "§1983 is [not] simply a federalized amalgamation of pre-existing common-law claims"). In applying, selecting among, or adjusting common-law approaches, courts must closely attend to the values and purposes of the constitutional right at issue.

With these precepts as backdrop, Manuel and the City offer competing views about what accrual rule should govern a §1983 suit challenging post-legal-process pretrial detention. According to Manuel, that Fourth Amendment claim accrues only upon the dismissal of criminal charges—here, on May 4, 2011, less than two years before he brought his suit. See Reply Brief 2; Brief for United States as Amicus Curiae 24-25, n. 16 (taking the same position). Relying on this Court's caselaw, Manuel analogizes his claim to the common-law tort of malicious prosecution. See Reply Brief 9; Wallace, 549 U. S., at 389-390, 127 S. Ct. 1091, 166 L. Ed. 2d 973. An element of that tort is the "termination of the . . . proceeding in favor of the accused"; and accordingly, the statute of limitations does not start to run until that termination takes place. *Heck*, 512 U. S., at 484, 489, 114 S. Ct. 2364, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383. Manuel argues that following the same rule in suits like his will avoid "conflicting resolutions" in §1983 litigation and criminal

proceedings by "preclud[ing] the possibility of the claimant succeeding in the tort action after having been convicted in underlying criminal prosecution." Id., at 484, 486, 114 S. Ct. 2364, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383; see Reply Brief 10-11; Brief for United States as Amicus Curiae 24-25, n. 16. In support of Manuel's position, all but two of the ten Courts of Appeals that have recognized a Fourth Amendment claim like incorporated "favorable his have \boldsymbol{a} termination" element and so pegged the statute of limitations to the dismissal of the criminal case. See n. 4, supra. 9

That means in the great majority of Circuits, Manuel's claim would be timely.

Manuel v. City of Joliet, 137 S. Ct. at 920-921 (emphasis added)(one paragraph break supplied).

Heck, *Manuel*, and the clear weight of federal circuit authority support pegging the accrual date for Mr. Lynch's causes of action to the dismissal of his criminal case.⁴ *Ibid*. The dismissal is a "favorable termination".

In deciding this CR 12(b)(6) motion, the Court should decide this statute of limitations issue in a manner which "[safeguards] the rights of federal civil rights litigants,"

14

⁴ Undersigned counsel has not located a Washington state appellate decision deciding this issue.

Usher v. City of Los Angeles, 828 F.2d 556, 560 (9th Cir. 1987), and vindicates the purposes of §1983: protection of Mr. Lynch's constitutional rights, compensation for his injuries, and deterrence. See Smith v. Wade, supra., 461 U.S. at 49-50. These important purposes are furthered by following the substantial federal authority discussed above. This Court should hold that the accrual date for Mr. Lynch's §1983 claims is the date of the court's order of dismissal of the criminal case in February, 2016. The claims are timely.⁵

Although this is a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the appellate panel construed *Heck*, the facts and the dismissal order narrowly against Mr. Lynch, and broadly in favor of the State defendants, the moving party. *See* Slip Decision, Appendix II pages A6-A11. This is contrary to this Court's cases cited above. The panel did not follow *Manuel*'s "favorable termination" approach, even though a "favorable termination" element is part of our own state's malicious

⁵ Had Mr. Lynch filed the lawsuit before his case was dismissed, he would have faced a motion to dismiss by the state defendants under *Heck* alleging that his claims were not yet cognizable. This appeal should be resolved as requested by Mr. Lynch to avoid a Scylla vs. Charybdis dilemma.

prosecution tort jurisprudence, and the dismissal order can be seen as a favorable termination. The panel required the word "invalid" as an essential component of a dismissal order. The effect was to forestall Mr. Lynch's day in court.

Nothing in the text of §1983, its legislative history or the *Heck* decision requires a favorable termination order to use the word "invalid", as if it were scripture. The word "invalidated" is not a "prefabricated component". *See Manuel, supra; Hartman v. Moore, supra.*, quoted above.

The case facts and the order in Mr. Lynch's case can be seen as an invalidation—or favorable termination--of the conviction. If the complaint is construed broadly, these defendants did not establish "beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." *Corrigal v. Ball & Dodd Funeral Home, Inc., supra.*, 89 Wn.2d at 961. This Court should grant review and allow the federal civil rights claims to go forward under this Court's CR 12(b)(6) standard.

3. <u>Issue Three: The statute of limitations for the state law claims should begin to run on the date the underlying criminal charge was dismissed.</u>

The same analysis applies to the state law claims framed in the complaint. The false arrest, imprisonment and wrongful seizures of Mr. Lynch and his property were based upon the invalid conviction, the invalid sentence, and the resulting, now-invalidated disabilities and penalties. *Complaint*, ¶¶ 10-58. In the state law claims, we likewise challenge the validity of the conviction and sentence.

Mr. Lynch entered an *Alford* plea to the charge. *Complaint*, ¶ 10. He was subjected to the conviction, the sentence and the resulting penalties and disabilities until the Court's order of vacation and dismissal was entered on February 8, 2016. *Complaint*, ¶51. Under Washington law, Mr. Lynch's state law claims did not accrue until the dismissal. *See Brown v. Department of Corrections*, 198 Wash. App. 1, 12-14, 2016 Wash.App. LEXIS 3081 (Division One, 2016).⁶

The panel seems to have overlooked this argument. The panel construed the complaint against Mr. Lynch, by presuming that he "knew" all of the essential elements in 2007. *See* Slip decision, page A-13, fn. 6. In fact, as discussed above, the state law claims did not accrue until the dismissal of the criminal case in 2016.

The analysis in *Brown* is helpful. The plaintiff alleged negligent supervision by the DOC resulting in the murder of plaintiff's decedent by a probationer. The DOC contended that the plaintiff "knew" who the killer was via news accounts and the charging documents, and that the statute of limitations had run due to the passage of time after the news accounts, etc. The appellate court rejected the DOC position:

We conclude the undisputed record establishes the cause of action against DOC for negligent supervision did not accrue and the three-year statute of limitations did not begin until Walker was convicted in February 2012. Only then did the Browns know the identity of the shooter and the essential elements of the tort claim, including that DOC's negligent supervision of Walker was a proximate cause of Alajawan's death.

Brown v. Department of Corrections, supra, 198 Wash.App. at 14.

Our analysis is similar. One of the elements of our state law claims is that the underlying criminal case was terminated in Mr. Lynch's favor. Mr. Lynch's state law tort claims did not accrue until the Court's order in February, 2016 established the dismissal of the criminal

case and the vacation of its resulting sentence, disabilities and penalties. *See Complaint*, ¶¶ 51-59. As noted, had Mr. Lynch filed his state law claims prior to Judge McCullough's order, the state could have sought dismissal claiming that the false arrest, seizures and imprisonment were valid because the conviction and the sentence still stood. The purposes and goals of our state law civil justice system are well served by holding that Mr. Lynch's causes of action accrued when Judge McCullough's order was entered in February, 2016.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons stated, the CR 12(b)(6) dismissal of the case should be reversed. The cause should be remanded to the Superior Court for further proceedings.

DATED this the 23rd day of July, 2018.

Respectfully submitted,
MUENSTER & KOENIG
By: S/John R. Muenster
 JOHN R. MUENSTER
 Attorney at Law
 WSBA No. 6237
 jmkk1613@aol.com
Of Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant