FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/21/2018 11:09 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

#### NO. 96130-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEPHEN THOMAS LYNCH,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendants/Respondents.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JANA R. HARTMAN Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 35524 P.O. Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 (253) 593-2431 OID No. 91105

#

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

#### VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

- A. The Issues Identified by the Petition Are Not Appropriate for Review by this Court Because the Court of Appeals Followed Existing Law and Created No New Precedent
  - 1. It is well-settled law that, under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, neither the State of Washington nor any of its officials (acting in their official capacities), are "persons" who may be charged with violating Mr. Lunch's civil rights.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the State of Washington and both DOC corrections officers (in their official capacities) should be dismissed from this litigation as a matter of law because they are not "persons" as that term is used in 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Mr. Lynch does not appear to contest this well-supported ruling.

In Will v. Michigan Dep't of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 109 S. Ct. 2304, 105 L. Ed. 2d 45 (1989), the Supreme Court directly resolved the question of whether a state or state official may properly be characterized as a "person" under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. It held that neither a state nor its official acting in their official capacities are "persons" within the meaning of § 1983. Id., 491 U.S. at 71. The Court explained that § 1983 "does not provide a federal forum for litigants who seek a remedy against a State for alleged deprivations of civil liberties. The Eleventh Amendment bars such suits unless the State has waived its immunity" or Congress specifically overrode that immunity-and "Congress, in passing § 1983, had no intention to disturb the States' Eleventh Amendment immunity." Id. at 66. The Court also held that a suit against a state official in his or her official capacity is not a suit against the official, but rather is a suit against the official's office, and thus is no different from a suit against the state itself. *Id*. at 71.

Since *Will*, it has been clear that states and state officials sued in their official capacities are not "persons" who can be sued for money damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as this Court has recognized. *See Wash. Trucking Ass'ns v. State Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 188 Wn.2d 198, 208 n.8,

7

393 P.3d 761, *cert. denied*, 138 S. Ct. 261, 199 L. Ed. 2d 124 (2017); *Wash. State Republican Party v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n*, 141 Wn.2d 245, 285-86, 4 P.3d 808 (2000). This aspect of the Court of Appeals decision follows well-settled precepts and does not require review by this Court.

2. It is well-settled law that, under *Heck v. Humphrey*, Mr. Lynch's criminal charge must be *invalidated* as a pre-condition to any claim that his civil rights were violated under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Mr. Lynch's primary argument is that after he made use of the procedure for *vacating the record* of his conviction articulated in RCW 9.94A.637 and 9.94A.640, he should be considered "innocent"<sup>2</sup> and placed in the same category as individuals whose criminal conviction was *invalidated* under *Heck v. Humphrey*. The Court of Appeals correctly found this argument to be specious.

Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. at 486-87 requires that:

[A] § 1983 plaintiff must prove that the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal authorized to make such determination, or called into question by a federal court's issuance of a writ of habeas corpus, 28 U.S.C. § 2254. A claim for damages bearing that relationship to a conviction or sentence that has *not* been so invalidated is not cognizable under § 1983.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petition for Review, p. 5.

After a careful examination of the language of RCW 9.94A.637 and 9.94A.640, the Court of Appeals found that those statutes satisfied none of the criteria articulated in *Heck*, and that, in particular, certification under these statutes did not *invalidate* a conviction as *Heck* requires. As the Court of Appeals stated:

There is no indication that RCW 9.94A.640 allows for the invalidation of an offender's conviction or sentence. By its plain terms, it provides not for a conviction's invalidation but, rather, for **vacation of the record of conviction**. RCW 9.94A.640(1), (3). Indeed, the word "invalid"—or any variant thereof—appears nowhere in RCW 9.94A.640. Moreover, subsection (3) of RCW 9.94A.640 presupposes the validity of the underlying conviction, setting forth that, "Nothing in this section affects or prevents the use of an offender's prior conviction in a later criminal prosecution." Thus, RCW 9.94A.640 lends no support to Lynch's argument.

Lynch, Slip Opinion at 9 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals found RCW 9.94A.637 similarly

unsupportive:

By its plain terms, RCW 9.94A.637 does not implicate the validity of an offender's sentence or the offender's underlying conviction. Indeed, the word "invalid" appears nowhere in this provision.

Instead, RCW 9.94A.637 sets forth the circumstances under which an offender's sentence may be discharged when the offender completes the requirements of the offender's sentence. Moreover, RCW 9.94A.637 permits the State, notwithstanding that the offender has obtained a certificate of discharge, to rely on the offender's conviction or sentence in a later criminal prosecution. RCW 9.94A.637(5), (6). In

9

this light, the provisions of RCW 9.94A.637 presuppose that the offender's underlying sentence is valid. Thus, RCW 9.94A.637 does not support Lynch's contention.

Furthermore, there is nothing in either RCW 9.94A.637 or RCW 9.94A.640 that authorizes the trial court to issue findings of fact or reach a determination regarding the validity of an offender's conviction or sentence. Indeed, Lynch did not need to prove the invalidity of his conviction in order to obtain the relief he requested pursuant to subsections .637 and .640.

Thus, there is no indication that Lynch ever established the invalidity of the judgment entered on his conviction or the sentence imposed thereon. Because Lynch has not established that his conviction or sentence was invalid, his § 1983 damages actions against Mustain and Dewing are not cognizable. *Heck*, 512 U.S. at 486-87.

Accordingly, there is no basis in the pleadings to support Lynch's § 1983 actions against Mustain and Dewing. There was no error in dismissing the claims.

Lynch, Slip Opinion at 10-11.

This aspect of the Court of Appeals decision follows well-settled

case law and does not require review by this Court.

#### B. There are No Facts Petitioner Might Allege, Consistent With the Complaint, That Might Raise An Issue Regarding the Statute of Limitations That Would Require Review By This Court

Mr. Lynch alleges that his state law tort claims did not accrue until after his conviction was vacated under RCW 9.94A.637 and 9.94A.640. There is no basis for his claim. The Court of Appeals correctly found, in a case where *Heck v. Humphrey* did not determine the date Mr. Lynch's action accrued, that, on the face of his pleadings, it had been nine years since the events that served as the basis for his state law complaints, and, consequently, all of his claims were untimely under the applicable statutes of limitations. It is state law that establishes the statute of limitations for personal-injury torts. *See Wallace v. Kato*, 549 U.S. 384, 387-92, 127 S. Ct. 1091, 166 L. Ed. 2d 973 (2007). The *Wallace* court explicitly held that "the statute of limitations upon a § 1983 claim seeking damages for a false arrest in violation of the Fourth Amendment, where the arrest is followed by criminal proceedings, begins to run at the time the claimant becomes detained pursuant to legal process." *Id.* at 397. The statutory limitation period applicable to both an action for negligence and an action for trespass upon personal property is three years. RCW 4.16.080(2). The torts of false arrest and false imprisonment "are subject to a two-year statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.100." As the Court of Appeals stated:

Accepting Lynch's allegations as true, the misconduct by the State, Mustain, and Dewing occurred in 2007. Lynch filed the complaint here at issue in 2016, nine years after the alleged misconduct occurred.

There is nothing in the pleadings that supports a later accrual date for any of Lynch's alleged state law tort actions. Thus, these actions were filed well beyond their applicable statutory limitation period. Accordingly, the trial court did not err by ordering dismissal of the claims. There was no error.

Lynch, Slip Opinion at 13.

Lynch heavily relies upon *Manuel v. City of Joliet*, 137 S. Ct. 911, 197 L. Ed. 2d 312, (2017). However, the *Manuel* court did not decide when a statute of limitations begins, and it did not purport to change or limit *Heck* in any respect. Furthermore, in *Manuel*, the charges were dismissed before Manuel went to trial, which factually distinguishes that case from both *Heck* and this case.

There are no facts that might alter the application of the statute of limitations to the state tort claims alleged by Mr. Lynch. This aspect of the Court of Appeals decision follows well-settled principles and does not require review by this Court.

#### C. The Trial Court and Court of Appeals Applied to Correct Standard When Considering a CR 12 Motion on the Pleadings

Mr. Lynch appears to attack the standard of review used by both the trial court and Court of Appeals in granting what he refers to as a CR 12(b)(6) motion.<sup>3</sup> However, the State's motion was decided as a CR 12(c) motion, not a CR 12(b)(6) motion. Dismissal under CR 12 is only appropriate where it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff cannot prove any set of facts that would justify recovery. *Lowe v. Rowe*, 173 Wn. App. 253, 258, 294 P.3d 6 (2012). A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under CR 12(b)(6) and a motion for judgment on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petition for Review, p. 8.

pleadings under CR 12(c) raise identical issues and are subject to the same standard of review. *Id.* 

Mr. Lynch incorrectly argues that "the appellate panel appears to have construed the complaint against Mr. Lynch and in favor of the State...".<sup>4</sup> He offers no further explanation for this conclusory statement. The correct standard was properly applied here. Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals construed the facts against Mr. Lynch as he asserts the case was dismissed because even assuming the truth of every fact he alleged, a § 1983 action was not available to him *as a matter of law*, and the statute of limitations had run *as a matter of law*. The Court of Appeals noted they reviewed the trial court's dismissal of the claims *de novo*, and that all factual allegations contained in the complaint are as accepted as true. *Lynch*, Slip Opinion at 2.

#### VII. CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

The standard of review of civil rights complaints and the statute of limitations in civil rights cases are well-settled law. Mr. Lynch's disagreement with that settled law does not create an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petition for Review, p. 9.

#### **VIII. CONCLUSION**

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Lynch's claims are barred by the statute of limitations. The petition for review should be denied.